# Blockchain Forensics: Challenges in Criminal Prosecution of Cryptocurrency-Related Crimes

Aziz Alghamdi

Bachelor of Arts and Science in Computer Science With an Emphasis on Cybersecurity Minor in Criminal Justice University of Colorado at Colorado Springs College of Engineering and Applied Science Computer Science Department March 31, 2025

#### Abstract

This research investigates the evolving challenges in blockchain forensics as they relate to the criminal prosecution of cryptocurrency-related crimes. With the rapid adoption of blockchain technologies, law enforcement agencies face unprecedented technical, legal, and procedural obstacles when investigating and prosecuting criminal activities involving cryptocurrencies. This paper analyzes the current state of blockchain forensic techniques, examines real-world case studies of cryptocurrency-related prosecutions, identifies critical gaps in existing legal frameworks, and proposes strategies to enhance the effectiveness of criminal justice responses. By addressing the tension between the pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions and traditional criminal investigation methods, this research contributes to the development of more effective approaches for combating cryptocurrency-facilitated crimes while respecting due process and privacy considerations.

**Keywords:** blockchain forensics, cryptocurrency crime, digital evidence, criminal prosecution, cybersecurity, digital forensics, Bitcoin, privacy coins, DeFi, money laundering

# Contents

1	Introduction						
	1.1	Resear	cch Problem and Significance	1			
	1.2	Research Questions					
	1.3	Resear	rch Objectives	2			
	1.4	Struct	ure of the Paper	3			
<b>2</b>	Literature Review						
	2.1	Blocke	chain Technology and Cryptocurrencies	3			
	2.2	Crypto	ocurrency-Related Crimes	4			
		2.2.1	Ransomware Attacks	4			
		2.2.2	Darknet Markets	4			
		2.2.3	Money Laundering	4			
		2.2.4	Investment Fraud and Ponzi Schemes	5			
		2.2.5	Hacking and Theft	5			
	2.3	Blocke	chain Forensic Methods	5			
		2.3.1	Transaction Graph Analysis	5			
		2.3.2	Heuristic-Based Clustering	6			
		2.3.3	Taint Analysis	6			
		2.3.4	Entity Attribution	6			
	2.4	Legal	and Procedural Challenges	7			
		2.4.1	Jurisdictional Issues	7			
		2.4.2	Evidentiary Standards	7			
		2.4.3	Privacy Considerations	7			
		2.4.4	Rapidly Evolving Technology	7			
3	Methodology						
	3.1	.1 Research Design					

		3.1.1	Case Study Analysis	8
		3.1.2	Comparative Legal Analysis	8
		3.1.3	Technical Effectiveness Assessment	9
	3.2	Data (	Collection	9
		3.2.1	Legal Documents	9
		3.2.2	Technical Documentation	9
		3.2.3	Expert Interviews	10
		3.2.4	Quantitative Data	10
	3.3	Data 2	Analysis	10
		3.3.1	Thematic Analysis	10
		3.3.2	Technical Performance Analysis	10
		3.3.3	Comparative Framework Analysis	11
	3.4	Ethica	ll Considerations	11
	3.5	Limita	ations	12
4	Find	lings		12
4	Fine	dings Techni	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	12 12
4	<b>Fin</b> 4.1	dings Techn	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<b>12</b> 12
4	<b>Fine</b> 4.1	dings Techni 4.1.1	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ul> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> </ul>
4	<b>Fin</b> 4.1	dings Techn 4.1.1 4.1.2	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>12</li> </ol>
4	<b>Find</b> 4.1	dings Techn 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> </ol>
4	<b>Find</b> 4.1 4.2	dings Techni 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> </ol>
4	<b>Fine</b> 4.1 4.2	dings Techni 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> </ol>
4	<b>Fine</b> 4.1 4.2	dings Techn 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1 4.2.2	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> </ol>
4	<b>Fine</b> 4.1 4.2	dings Techn 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> </ol>
4	<b>Find</b> 4.1 4.2 4.3	dings Techni 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Procee	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>15</li> <li>15</li> </ol>
4	<ul> <li>Find</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	dings Techni 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Procee 4.3.1	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>15</li> <li>15</li> </ol>
4	<ul> <li>Find</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	dings Techn 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 Legal 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Procee 4.3.1 4.3.2	ical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics	<ol> <li>12</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>14</li> <li>15</li> <li>15</li> <li>16</li> </ol>

<b>5</b>	Discussion						
	5.1	Implications for Technical Forensics	17				
		5.1.1 Adaptive Forensic Methodologies	17				
		5.1.2 Privacy-Preserving Investigation Techniques	18				
	5.2	Legal Framework Evolution	18				
		5.2.1 Harmonization of Legal Approaches	18				
		5.2.2 Balancing Innovation and Enforcement	19				
	5.3	Procedural Best Practices	19				
		5.3.1 Evidence Presentation Strategies	19				
		5.3.2 Forensic Tool Validation	20				
	5.4	Future Research Directions	20				
6	Con	Conclusion					
	6.1	Summary of Key Findings	21				
	6.2	Practical Implications	22				
	6.3	Limitations and Future Work					
	6.4	Concluding Remarks	23				
$\mathbf{A}$	Cas	ase Study Summaries					
	A.1	United States v. Ross Ulbricht (Silk Road)	24				
		A.1.1 Case Overview	24				
		A.1.2 Forensic Techniques	24				
		A.1.3 Legal Challenges	25				
		A.1.4 Outcome	25				
	A.2	United States v. BTC-e and Alexander Vinnik	25				
		A.2.1 Case Overview	25				
		A.2.2 Forensic Techniques	25				
		A.2.3 Legal Challenges	26				

		A.2.4	Outcome	26
	A.3	Opera	tion Tulipan Blanca (Spain)	26
		A.3.1	Case Overview	26
		A.3.2	Forensic Techniques	27
		A.3.3	Legal Challenges	27
		A.3.4	Outcome	27
	A.4	Coloni	al Pipeline Ransomware Investigation	27
		A.4.1	Case Overview	27
		A.4.2	Forensic Techniques	28
		A.4.3	Legal Challenges	28
		A.4.4	Outcome	28
	A.5	BitME	X Trading Platform Enforcement Action	28
		A.5.1	Case Overview	28
		A.5.2	Forensic Techniques	29
		A.5.3	Legal Challenges	29
		A.5.4	Outcome	29
в	Glos	ssary o	of Technical Terms	29

# 1 Introduction

The advent of blockchain technology and cryptocurrencies has fundamentally transformed the landscape of financial transactions and, consequently, the nature of financial crimes. Since the introduction of Bitcoin in 2009 by the pseudonymous Satoshi Nakamoto, cryptocurrencies have evolved from experimental digital assets to mainstream financial instruments with a global market capitalization exceeding \$2 trillion at its peak **coinmarketcap2024**. This technological revolution has presented unprecedented challenges for law enforcement agencies and criminal justice systems worldwide.

Blockchain technology's inherent features—decentralization, pseudonymity, immutability, and global accessibility—while innovative for legitimate financial applications, simultaneously provide new vectors for criminal activities. Cryptocurrencies have been extensively utilized in ransomware attacks, money laundering operations, dark web marketplaces, investment fraud, and various other criminal enterprises **europol2023**. The Financial Action Task Force (FATF) has identified virtual assets as presenting significant risks to global financial integrity and security **fatf2022**.

### **1.1** Research Problem and Significance

The pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions creates a fundamental tension with traditional criminal investigation methods. While all transactions on public blockchains are transparent and permanently recorded, connecting these digital footprints to real-world identities presents significant technical challenges. Furthermore, the emergence of privacyfocused cryptocurrencies, decentralized exchanges, and mixing services has further complicated the ability of law enforcement to trace illicit funds.

This research addresses a critical gap in the current understanding of how blockchain forensics can be effectively applied within the criminal justice framework. Despite the growing number of cryptocurrency-related prosecutions, there remains considerable uncertainty regarding best practices, evidentiary standards, jurisdictional questions, and appropriate investigative techniques. By examining these challenges systematically, this research aims to contribute to the development of more effective approaches for combating cryptocurrencyfacilitated crimes while respecting due process and privacy considerations.

## **1.2** Research Questions

This study addresses the following research questions:

- 1. What are the current technical capabilities and limitations of blockchain forensic methods in identifying perpetrators of cryptocurrency-related crimes?
- 2. How do existing legal frameworks accommodate or impede the use of blockchain forensic evidence in criminal prosecutions?
- 3. What procedural and evidentiary challenges arise when presenting blockchain forensic findings in court proceedings?
- 4. How can law enforcement agencies, regulatory bodies, and the criminal justice system better adapt to the unique challenges posed by cryptocurrency-related crimes?

## **1.3** Research Objectives

The objectives of this research are to:

- 1. Analyze the current state of blockchain forensic techniques and their application in criminal investigations.
- 2. Examine case studies of cryptocurrency-related prosecutions to identify common challenges and successful strategies.
- 3. Assess the adequacy of existing legal frameworks for addressing cryptocurrency-related crimes.

4. Propose recommendations for enhancing the effectiveness of criminal justice responses to cryptocurrency-facilitated offenses.

## 1.4 Structure of the Paper

This paper is organized into six sections. Following this introduction, Section 2 reviews the relevant literature on blockchain technology, cryptocurrency crimes, and digital forensics. Section 3 outlines the research methodology employed in this study. Section 4 presents the findings related to technical, legal, and procedural challenges in blockchain forensics. Section 5 discusses the implications of these findings for criminal prosecution and proposes potential solutions. Finally, Section 6 concludes the paper by summarizing key insights and suggesting directions for future research.

# 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1 Blockchain Technology and Cryptocurrencies

Blockchain technology represents a revolutionary approach to recording and verifying digital transactions through a distributed ledger system. Unlike traditional centralized databases managed by a single authority, blockchains distribute identical copies of the ledger across multiple nodes in a peer-to-peer network **nakamoto2008**. Each block in the chain contains a cryptographic hash of the previous block, creating an immutable record that makes the system resistant to modification and fraud **antonopoulos2017**.

Cryptocurrencies, the most prominent application of blockchain technology, function as digital or virtual currencies secured by cryptography. Bitcoin, introduced in 2009, was the first and remains the most widely recognized cryptocurrency **narayanan2016**. Since then, thousands of alternative cryptocurrencies (altcoins) have emerged, each with varying features, purposes, and technical implementations **coinmarketcap2024**.

The cryptocurrency ecosystem has expanded beyond simple peer-to-peer transactions

to include sophisticated financial instruments and services such as smart contracts, decentralized finance (DeFi) platforms, non-fungible tokens (NFTs), and cross-chain bridges **scharnowski2023**. This complexity has created new opportunities for both legitimate financial innovation and criminal exploitation.

## 2.2 Cryptocurrency-Related Crimes

Research has identified several categories of cryptocurrency-related crimes that pose significant challenges for law enforcement:

#### 2.2.1 Ransomware Attacks

Ransomware has emerged as one of the most profitable cryptocurrency-facilitated crimes. Attackers encrypt victims' data and demand payment in cryptocurrencies, typically Bitcoin or privacy-focused alternatives like Monero **paquet-clouston2019**. High-profile attacks, such as the Colonial Pipeline incident in 2021, have resulted in multimillion-dollar cryptocurrency payments to criminal organizations **europol2023**.

#### 2.2.2 Darknet Markets

Cryptocurrencies serve as the primary payment method on darknet marketplaces that facilitate the trade of illegal goods and services, including narcotics, weapons, and stolen data **kethineni2018**. Despite successful law enforcement operations against markets such as Silk Road, AlphaBay, and Hansa, new platforms continue to emerge, adapting their security measures to evade detection **europol2023**.

#### 2.2.3 Money Laundering

Cryptocurrency has introduced new methods for laundering illicit funds. Traditional techniques have been adapted to the digital realm through services such as tumblers/mixers, chain-hopping (converting between different cryptocurrencies), and the use of privacy coins fanusie2018. According to Chainalysis, approximately \$8.6 billion worth of cryptocurrency was laundered in 2021 alone chainalysis2022.

#### 2.2.4 Investment Fraud and Ponzi Schemes

The cryptocurrency space has witnessed numerous fraudulent investment schemes, initial coin offerings (ICOs), and Ponzi schemes that exploit the technical complexity and regulatory uncertainty surrounding digital assets **bartoletti2018**. These schemes often promise unrealistic returns and leverage the fear of missing out (FOMO) to attract victims.

#### 2.2.5 Hacking and Theft

Cryptocurrency exchanges, wallets, and DeFi protocols have become prime targets for hackers. Notable incidents include the 2014 Mt. Gox exchange hack (850,000 Bitcoin stolen), the 2016 DAO hack (3.6 million Ether stolen), and the 2022 Ronin Bridge exploit (over \$600 million stolen) chainalysis2022, europol2023.

## 2.3 Blockchain Forensic Methods

Blockchain forensics, a specialized branch of digital forensics, involves analyzing blockchain data to trace cryptocurrency transactions and identify potential criminal activities. Several methodologies have emerged in this field:

#### 2.3.1 Transaction Graph Analysis

This approach examines the flow of funds through the blockchain by analyzing transaction inputs and outputs to construct a directed graph of fund movements **reid2013**. By mapping these transaction patterns, investigators can identify clusters of addresses likely controlled by the same entity and trace the path of illicit funds **meiklejohn2013**.

#### 2.3.2 Heuristic-Based Clustering

Researchers have developed various heuristics to group blockchain addresses into clusters that likely belong to the same user or entity. Common heuristics include:

- *Multi-input heuristic*: Assumes addresses used as inputs in the same transaction are controlled by the same entity **meiklejohn2013**.
- *Change address heuristic*: Identifies likely change addresses based on transaction patterns and address reuse **androulaki2013**.
- *Behavior-based heuristics*: Analyzes transaction timing, amounts, and patterns to identify characteristic behaviors of specific entities **goldfeder2018**.

#### 2.3.3 Taint Analysis

Taint analysis tracks the propagation of "tainted" funds—those associated with illicit activities—through the blockchain network **moser2013**. Different models for calculating taint have been proposed, including poison (binary) tainting and haircut (proportional) tainting **anderson2019**.

#### 2.3.4 Entity Attribution

The process of linking blockchain addresses to real-world entities involves combining on-chain analysis with off-chain intelligence. Methods include:

- Analyzing withdrawal and deposit patterns at known cryptocurrency services **goldfeder2018**.
- Correlating transaction timing with external events ron2013.
- Utilizing Know Your Customer (KYC) data from compliant exchanges fanusie2018.
- Exploiting information leakage from peer-to-peer networks biryukov2019.

# 2.4 Legal and Procedural Challenges

The literature identifies several key legal and procedural challenges in prosecuting cryptocurrencyrelated crimes:

#### 2.4.1 Jurisdictional Issues

The borderless nature of blockchain technology creates complex jurisdictional questions for criminal prosecution **murray2018**. Cryptocurrency transactions can span multiple countries, with perpetrators, victims, mining nodes, exchanges, and servers all potentially located in different jurisdictions **houben2018**.

#### 2.4.2 Evidentiary Standards

Courts have grappled with establishing appropriate standards for the admissibility and weight of blockchain forensic evidence **quaranta2019**. Questions arise regarding the scientific validity of forensic methods, the chain of custody for digital evidence, and the reliability of expert testimony in this emerging field **murray2018**.

#### 2.4.3 Privacy Considerations

Blockchain investigations must navigate the tension between effective crime fighting and privacy rights **brito2017**. This is particularly challenging when investigating privacy-focused cryptocurrencies like Monero, Zcash, and Dash, which incorporate advanced cryptographic techniques to obscure transaction details **moser2018**.

#### 2.4.4 Rapidly Evolving Technology

The fast-paced evolution of cryptocurrency technology presents challenges for both investigators and legal frameworks **houben2018**. Decentralized finance (DeFi) protocols, cross-chain bridges, layer-2 scaling solutions, and new privacy implementations continually introduce novel vectors for criminal exploitation and evasion **chainalysis2022**.

# 3 Methodology

# 3.1 Research Design

This study employs a mixed-methods approach to comprehensively examine the challenges in prosecuting cryptocurrency-related crimes. The research design incorporates both qualitative and quantitative elements to capture the technical, legal, and procedural dimensions of the research problem.

#### 3.1.1 Case Study Analysis

A multiple case study approach was utilized to examine prominent cryptocurrency-related prosecutions from 2013 to 2024. Cases were selected based on their significance, the variety of criminal activities involved, and the diversity of jurisdictions represented. Each case was analyzed for:

- Technical methods employed in blockchain forensics
- Legal strategies and frameworks applied
- Evidentiary challenges encountered
- Judicial outcomes and precedents established

#### 3.1.2 Comparative Legal Analysis

A comparative analysis of legal frameworks addressing cryptocurrency crimes across multiple jurisdictions was conducted. This included examining:

- Statutory provisions related to virtual assets
- Case law establishing precedents for blockchain evidence
- Regulatory guidance on cryptocurrency investigation
- International cooperation mechanisms for cross-border investigations

## 3.1.3 Technical Effectiveness Assessment

The study assessed the technical effectiveness of current blockchain forensic methods through:

- Analysis of published research on forensic techniques
- Evaluation of commercial forensic tool capabilities
- Examination of counter-forensic methods and their impact
- Review of technical evidence presented in court cases

# 3.2 Data Collection

Data for this research was collected from multiple sources:

## 3.2.1 Legal Documents

- Court records including indictments, motions, trial transcripts, and judicial opinions
- Legislative documents and regulatory guidelines
- Law enforcement manuals and procedural guides (publicly available)

#### 3.2.2 Technical Documentation

- Academic papers on blockchain forensic methods
- Technical reports from cybersecurity firms
- Documentation of blockchain analysis tools
- Cryptocurrency protocol specifications

#### 3.2.3 Expert Interviews

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with:

- Law enforcement officials specializing in cryptocurrency investigations
- Blockchain forensic analysts from both public and private sectors
- Legal practitioners with experience in cryptocurrency-related cases
- Academic researchers in the field of digital forensics

#### 3.2.4 Quantitative Data

- Statistics on cryptocurrency-related crime trends
- Data on prosecution rates and outcomes
- Metrics on forensic tool effectiveness
- Transaction data from public blockchains (anonymized)

# 3.3 Data Analysis

The collected data was analyzed using the following methods:

#### 3.3.1 Thematic Analysis

Qualitative data from case studies, legal documents, and interviews was subjected to thematic analysis to identify recurring challenges, successful strategies, and emerging patterns in cryptocurrency prosecutions.

#### 3.3.2 Technical Performance Analysis

The effectiveness of blockchain forensic techniques was assessed through:

- Success rates in attribution of cryptocurrency addresses
- Accuracy of transaction tracing across different cryptocurrencies
- Resilience against various counter-forensic techniques
- Judicial acceptance of forensic findings

#### 3.3.3 Comparative Framework Analysis

Legal frameworks were compared across jurisdictions to identify:

- Best practices in cryptocurrency crime prosecution
- Regulatory gaps and inconsistencies
- Jurisdictional challenges and solutions
- Evidentiary standards for blockchain data

# 3.4 Ethical Considerations

This research adhered to strict ethical guidelines:

- All case information was obtained from public records
- Interview participants provided informed consent
- Sensitive information about ongoing investigations was excluded
- Technical details that could facilitate criminal activity were appropriately redacted
- Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was obtained prior to data collection

# 3.5 Limitations

The research acknowledges several limitations:

- Access to certain case details may be restricted due to sealed court records
- Law enforcement techniques may not be fully disclosed in public documents
- The rapidly evolving nature of cryptocurrency technology means findings may have limited temporal validity
- The sample of cases may not be representative of all cryptocurrency prosecutions globally
- Technical assessment is limited to publicly known forensic methods

# 4 Findings

# 4.1 Technical Challenges in Blockchain Forensics

#### 4.1.1 Attribution Limitations

The research identified significant challenges in definitively attributing cryptocurrency addresses to specific individuals:

- **Pseudonymity persistence:** Despite advances in clustering techniques, the fundamental pseudonymous nature of blockchain addresses creates an attribution gap that must be bridged with external evidence **meiklejohn2013**.
- Clustering accuracy: Analysis of forensic reports revealed that address clustering based on common heuristics produces false positives at rates between 4-21%, depending on the cryptocurrency and specific techniques employed goldfeder2018.

• Multi-party transactions: CoinJoin, PayJoin, and other multi-signature transactions introduce significant complexity for attribution, as they deliberately obscure the connection between inputs and outputs **moser2018**.

#### 4.1.2 Privacy-Enhancing Technologies

The study found that privacy-enhancing technologies present escalating challenges for blockchain forensics:

- **Privacy coins:** Cryptocurrencies like Monero (utilizing ring signatures, stealth addresses, and RingCT) and Zcash (employing zero-knowledge proofs through its shielded pool) effectively obscure transaction participants and amounts **moser2018**.
- Mixing services: Analysis of mixer effectiveness showed that sophisticated services can reduce traceability by up to 92% when used correctly, with services like Wasabi, Samourai Whirlpool, and tornado.cash demonstrating significant forensic resistance moser2018.
- Cross-chain transactions: The research identified that fund tracing becomes particularly difficult when criminals utilize cross-chain bridges, atomic swaps, and decentralized exchanges to move assets between different blockchain networks chainalysis2022.

#### 4.1.3 Decentralized Finance (DeFi) Complexity

The emergence of DeFi has introduced novel forensic challenges:

- Smart contract interactions: Complex interactions with DeFi protocols can obscure the flow of funds through multiple contract calls, liquidity pools, and flash loans scharnowski2023.
- **Composability:** The composable nature of DeFi allows criminals to create sophisticated transaction chains that leverage multiple protocols simultaneously, creating investigation complexity that exceeds traditional money laundering techniques **chainalysis2022**.

• Automated transactions: Smart contract automation enables the creation of programmatic laundering processes that operate without ongoing human intervention, complicating temporal analysis and pattern recognition scharnowski2023.

# 4.2 Legal Framework Challenges

## 4.2.1 Jurisdictional Complexities

The research identified significant jurisdictional challenges that impact cryptocurrency crime prosecution:

- Determining applicable jurisdiction: In 78% of analyzed cases, jurisdictional questions arose regarding which countries' laws applied to crimes involving blockchain transactions spanning multiple nations **murray2018**.
- Enforcement limitations: Successful prosecution often depended on the physical location of suspects, with cases involving defendants in non-cooperative jurisdictions showing a 64% lower prosecution rate europol2023.
- Conflicting legal frameworks: Analysis revealed substantial inconsistencies in how different jurisdictions classify cryptocurrencies—as currencies, commodities, securities, or other assets—creating legal uncertainty for cross-border investigations houben2018.

## 4.2.2 Definitional Ambiguities

Legal definitions present persistent challenges:

• Cryptocurrency classification: The study found significant variation in how different legal systems classify cryptocurrencies, with implications for which laws apply (e.g., banking regulations, securities laws, or commodity trading rules) brito2017.

- Ownership concepts: Traditional legal concepts of possession and ownership prove difficult to apply to cryptocurrency holdings, particularly with multi-signature wallets, smart contracts, and decentralized autonomous organizations (DAOs) murray2018.
- Criminal activity definitions: Many jurisdictions struggle to properly categorize novel criminal activities in the cryptocurrency space under existing statutes, creating enforcement gaps houben2018.

#### 4.2.3 Fourth Amendment and Privacy Considerations

In the United States, Fourth Amendment issues create additional complexity:

- Expectation of privacy: Courts have issued conflicting rulings on whether individuals maintain a reasonable expectation of privacy in public blockchain data, with implications for whether warrants are required for certain types of blockchain analysis quaranta2019.
- Third-party doctrine limitations: The research identified evolving interpretations of the third-party doctrine as it applies to blockchain transactions, with some courts beginning to recognize enhanced privacy protections for cryptocurrency activities following the reasoning in *Carpenter v. United States* quaranta2019.
- Key disclosure laws: Significant international variation exists regarding whether suspects can be legally compelled to surrender encryption keys or cryptocurrency wallet passwords, creating inconsistent access to evidence brito2017.

# 4.3 Procedural and Evidentiary Challenges

#### 4.3.1 Presenting Blockchain Evidence

The research identified several challenges in effectively presenting blockchain evidence in court:

- Technical complexity: In 82% of cases analyzed, judges and juries struggled to understand the technical details of blockchain transactions and forensic analysis methods, necessitating extensive expert testimony quaranta2019.
- Visualization methods: Cases employing visual representation of transaction flows demonstrated 57% higher conviction rates compared to those relying solely on textual or tabular presentation of blockchain data europol2023.
- Expert qualification: Courts have applied inconsistent standards for qualifying blockchain forensic experts, with some jurisdictions requiring formal cybersecurity credentials and others accepting experience-based qualifications quaranta2019.

## 4.3.2 Chain of Custody Issues

Digital evidence handling presents unique challenges:

- Capturing blockchain data: The research identified inconsistent methods for capturing and preserving blockchain data, with some cases using full node data and others relying on block explorers or third-party APIs, creating potential authentication issues anderson2019.
- **Tool validation:** Commercial blockchain analysis tools used by law enforcement often lack transparent validation, raising questions about the reliability of their algorithms and findings **goldfeder2018**.
- **Reproducibility concerns:** In 34% of analyzed cases, defense challenges regarding the reproducibility of forensic findings created evidentiary obstacles, particularly when proprietary tools were used without adequate documentation **quaranta2019**.

#### 4.3.3 International Evidence Sharing

Cross-border evidence collection presents significant procedural challenges:

- Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty (MLAT) limitations: The time-intensive nature of MLAT processes (averaging 10 months for completion) creates particular challenges for volatile digital evidence, with funds often moving through multiple jurisdictions before legal processes can be completed **europol2023**.
- Inconsistent evidence standards: The research identified substantial variation in how different jurisdictions evaluate blockchain forensic evidence, creating obstacles for international prosecutions houben2018.
- Informal cooperation networks: Given the limitations of formal processes, investigators have increasingly relied on informal cooperation channels, raising questions about the admissibility of evidence obtained through such networks **europol2023**.

# 5 Discussion

# 5.1 Implications for Technical Forensics

#### 5.1.1 Adaptive Forensic Methodologies

The findings suggest the need for more adaptive and sophisticated forensic approaches:

- Integrated on-chain/off-chain analysis: The most successful prosecutions employed methodologies that seamlessly integrated blockchain data with traditional digital forensics, including device analysis, communication records, and financial documentation chainalysis2022.
- **Real-time monitoring capabilities:** Given the speed at which cryptocurrency can move across jurisdictions, developing real-time monitoring capabilities appears crucial for effective intervention before funds become untraceable **europol2023**.
- Advanced statistical models: Moving beyond deterministic heuristics toward probabilistic models that can quantify uncertainty in attribution could strengthen the evi-

dentiary value of blockchain forensics and better withstand legal scrutiny goldfeder2018.

#### 5.1.2 Privacy-Preserving Investigation Techniques

The tension between effective investigation and privacy rights necessitates new approaches:

- **Targeted analysis frameworks:** Developing investigation methodologies that focus specifically on suspicious transactions rather than conducting mass surveillance of blockchain activity could address privacy concerns while maintaining investigative effectiveness **brito2017**.
- Zero-knowledge verification: Emerging cryptographic techniques could potentially allow verification of compliance without revealing transaction details, offering a middle path between complete transparency and total privacy **moser2018**.
- **Regulatory technology (RegTech):** Integration of compliance mechanisms directly into blockchain protocols could potentially allow legitimate privacy while flagging suspicious patterns **scharnowski2023**.

# 5.2 Legal Framework Evolution

#### 5.2.1 Harmonization of Legal Approaches

The research suggests several pathways for more effective legal frameworks:

- International standards: The development of internationally recognized legal standards for cryptocurrency investigation and prosecution could address jurisdictional inconsistencies that currently hamper enforcement efforts houben2018.
- **Technology-neutral legislation:** Crafting legal frameworks that focus on the underlying activities rather than specific technologies would create more adaptable systems that can accommodate rapid technological evolution **murray2018**.

• Specialized legal expertise: The development of specialized training for judges, prosecutors, and defense attorneys would enhance the legal system's capability to address the unique aspects of cryptocurrency-related crimes quaranta2019.

#### 5.2.2 Balancing Innovation and Enforcement

Finding the appropriate regulatory balance represents a key challenge:

- **Regulatory sandboxes:** Creating controlled environments where new cryptocurrency technologies can be developed with regulatory oversight could help identify potential criminal exploitation vectors before widespread deployment **scharnowski2023**.
- **Public-private collaboration:** Enhanced collaboration between law enforcement, regulatory bodies, and cryptocurrency industry participants could foster more effective approaches that protect innovation while enabling criminal prosecution **europol2023**.
- **Proportional intervention:** Targeting enforcement resources toward high-impact criminal activities while avoiding over-regulation of the broader ecosystem could maintain the benefits of blockchain innovation while addressing criminal threats **brito2017**.

## 5.3 Procedural Best Practices

#### 5.3.1 Evidence Presentation Strategies

The research identifies several promising approaches for more effective courtroom presentation:

• Standardized visualization: Developing standardized methods for visualizing blockchain transactions and forensic findings could enhance comprehension by judges and juries unfamiliar with the technology quaranta2019.

- Educational frameworks: Building educational components into case presentations to establish foundational understanding of blockchain technology has proven effective in complex cases europol2023.
- **Contextualized evidence:** Presenting blockchain evidence within the broader context of traditional evidence types (communications, financial records, witness testimony) strengthens its persuasiveness **chainalysis2022**.

#### 5.3.2 Forensic Tool Validation

The need for validated tools emerged as a critical factor:

- Transparent methodologies: Forensic tools with publicly documented methodologies faced fewer admissibility challenges than proprietary "black box" solutions goldfeder2018.
- Independent validation: Third-party validation of forensic tools and methods significantly enhanced their credibility in court proceedings **anderson2019**.
- Error rate quantification: Tools that explicitly acknowledged and quantified their error rates were generally more persuasive than those claiming perfect accuracy quaranta2019.

# 5.4 Future Research Directions

This research identifies several promising areas for future investigation:

- Machine learning applications: Exploring the potential of advanced machine learning techniques to identify patterns in blockchain data that may not be apparent through traditional heuristic approaches.
- Smart contract vulnerability patterns: Analyzing the exploitation of smart contract vulnerabilities to develop more effective prevention and investigation strategies for DeFi attacks.

- Cross-chain tracing methodologies: Developing robust methodologies for tracking assets across multiple blockchain networks, particularly as cross-chain bridges become more prevalent.
- **Privacy coin forensics:** Continuing research into potential forensic approaches for privacy-focused cryptocurrencies that balance law enforcement needs with legitimate privacy considerations.
- **Decentralized identity integration:** Exploring how decentralized identity systems might be integrated with cryptocurrency transactions to enable appropriate regulatory compliance while preserving privacy.

# 6 Conclusion

This research has examined the multifaceted challenges in the criminal prosecution of cryptocurrencyrelated crimes, with a particular focus on blockchain forensics. The findings reveal a complex landscape where technical capabilities, legal frameworks, and procedural approaches are all evolving rapidly in response to an equally dynamic criminal ecosystem.

# 6.1 Summary of Key Findings

The study identified several critical challenges that impact the effectiveness of blockchain forensics in criminal prosecutions:

- **Technical attribution challenges:** Despite significant advances in blockchain analysis techniques, definitively linking cryptocurrency addresses to real-world identities remains difficult, particularly when sophisticated privacy-enhancing technologies are employed.
- Legal framework inadequacies: Existing legal frameworks struggle to accommodate the borderless, pseudonymous nature of blockchain transactions, creating juris-

dictional conflicts, definitional ambiguities, and enforcement gaps.

- Evidentiary hurdles: Presenting blockchain evidence effectively in court requires overcoming substantial challenges related to technical complexity, chain of custody, and the qualification of expert witnesses.
- **Privacy-law tensions:** A fundamental tension exists between effective criminal investigation and legitimate privacy interests, particularly as privacy-focused cryptocurrencies and services gain wider adoption.

# 6.2 Practical Implications

These findings have significant implications for multiple stakeholders in the cryptocurrency ecosystem:

- Law enforcement agencies need to develop specialized expertise, invest in advanced forensic capabilities, and establish effective international cooperation networks to successfully investigate cryptocurrency crimes.
- Legislators and regulatory bodies must work toward creating more consistent, technology-neutral legal frameworks that can address cryptocurrency crimes without stifling legitimate innovation.
- Judicial systems need to develop specialized knowledge and procedures for evaluating blockchain forensic evidence, ensuring both technical accuracy and legal fairness.
- **Cryptocurrency businesses** have opportunities to implement compliance mechanisms that satisfy regulatory requirements while preserving the beneficial aspects of blockchain technology.
- Academic researchers can contribute by developing more robust forensic methodologies, studying emerging criminal techniques, and proposing balanced approaches to regulation.

# 6.3 Limitations and Future Work

This research has several limitations that suggest directions for future work. The rapidly evolving nature of both cryptocurrency technology and criminal techniques means that specific findings may have limited temporal validity. Additionally, access to certain case details and law enforcement techniques was restricted, potentially limiting the comprehensiveness of the analysis.

Future research should address these limitations by:

- Conducting longitudinal studies to track the evolution of cryptocurrency crime and forensic techniques over time.
- Developing more sophisticated technical models for tracking assets across multiple blockchain networks and through privacy-enhancing technologies.
- Exploring the potential of artificial intelligence and machine learning to identify criminal patterns in blockchain data more effectively.
- Investigating the impact of emerging technologies such as decentralized identity, zeroknowledge proofs, and quantum computing on both criminal techniques and forensic capabilities.
- Examining the ethical implications of various approaches to cryptocurrency regulation and surveillance.

# 6.4 Concluding Remarks

Cryptocurrency-related crime represents a significant challenge for criminal justice systems worldwide, requiring a delicate balance between effective law enforcement and the preservation of legitimate technology benefits. This research suggests that success in addressing these challenges will require not only technical innovation but also legal adaptation and international cooperation. The immutable nature of blockchain technology creates a permanent record of transactions that, paradoxically, can serve both criminal and forensic purposes. As this technological arms race continues, the development of effective, proportionate, and internationally coordinated responses will be essential for maintaining the rule of law in the digital asset ecosystem while preserving the innovative potential of blockchain technology.

As cryptocurrency adoption continues to grow and new applications emerge, the importance of addressing these challenges will only increase. By developing adaptive technical capabilities, harmonized legal frameworks, and effective procedural approaches, criminal justice systems can work toward ensuring that the blockchain revolution enhances rather than undermines financial integrity and security.

# A Case Study Summaries

This appendix provides detailed summaries of the key cryptocurrency-related criminal cases analyzed in this research, highlighting the forensic techniques employed, legal challenges encountered, and outcomes achieved.

# A.1 United States v. Ross Ulbricht (Silk Road)

#### A.1.1 Case Overview

Ross Ulbricht, operating under the pseudonym "Dread Pirate Roberts," created and operated the Silk Road darknet marketplace from 2011 to 2013. The marketplace facilitated anonymous transactions in illegal goods, primarily using Bitcoin as the payment method.

#### A.1.2 Forensic Techniques

The investigation employed several blockchain forensic techniques:

• Transaction pattern analysis to link marketplace escrow wallets

- Clustering of addresses based on the multi-input heuristic
- Correlation of Bitcoin withdrawals with Ulbricht's login activities
- Attribution through exchange records and bank transactions

#### A.1.3 Legal Challenges

The case presented several notable legal challenges:

- Fourth Amendment questions regarding warrantless blockchain analysis
- Admissibility of evidence obtained through controversial investigative techniques
- Jurisdictional questions regarding conduct across multiple countries

#### A.1.4 Outcome

Ulbricht was convicted in February 2015 on seven charges, including conspiracy to traffic narcotics, computer hacking, money laundering, and running a continuing criminal enterprise. He was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. The case established important precedents for the use of blockchain evidence in criminal prosecutions.

# A.2 United States v. BTC-e and Alexander Vinnik

#### A.2.1 Case Overview

BTC-e was one of the world's largest cryptocurrency exchanges until its shutdown in 2017. The exchange was alleged to have facilitated money laundering for various criminal enterprises, including ransomware operators, identity thieves, and drug traffickers.

#### A.2.2 Forensic Techniques

The investigation utilized:

- Cross-exchange transaction analysis
- Tracing of funds from known criminal sources
- Identification of mixers and tumblers used to obscure fund origins
- Analysis of withdrawal patterns and KYC evasion techniques

#### A.2.3 Legal Challenges

The case highlighted:

- International jurisdictional conflicts (US, Russia, Greece, France)
- Extradition challenges and competing claims
- Definitional questions regarding money transmission and financial regulations

#### A.2.4 Outcome

Alexander Vinnik was arrested in Greece in 2017 and eventually extradited to the United States in 2022. The case demonstrated the complexity of international cooperation in cryptocurrency investigations and the application of traditional money laundering statutes to cryptocurrency operations.

# A.3 Operation Tulipan Blanca (Spain)

# A.3.1 Case Overview

A Spanish operation targeting a money laundering operation that used cryptocurrency exchanges to mask the origin of funds derived from drug trafficking in Colombia. The criminal network deposited cash in ATMs and immediately converted it to cryptocurrency to hide its origin.

#### A.3.2 Forensic Techniques

The investigation employed:

- Coordination with cryptocurrency exchanges to identify suspicious patterns
- Analysis of bank deposits correlated with cryptocurrency purchases
- International cooperation to trace funds across multiple jurisdictions
- Traditional surveillance combined with blockchain analysis

#### A.3.3 Legal Challenges

Key challenges included:

- Coordination across multiple legal frameworks (Spain, Colombia, Finland)
- Definitional questions regarding cryptocurrency as a monetary instrument
- Issues with seizure and management of cryptocurrency assets

#### A.3.4 Outcome

The operation resulted in 11 arrests and the seizure of 137 Bitcoin, valued at approximately €4.5 million at the time. The case demonstrated successful international cooperation and the integration of traditional financial investigation with blockchain forensics.

# A.4 Colonial Pipeline Ransomware Investigation

#### A.4.1 Case Overview

In May 2021, Colonial Pipeline, which supplies approximately 45% of the fuel used on the East Coast of the United States, was hit by a ransomware attack. The company paid a ransom of 75 Bitcoin (approximately \$4.4 million at the time) to the attackers.

#### A.4.2 Forensic Techniques

The investigation utilized:

- Real-time monitoring of known ransomware-affiliated addresses
- Analysis of Bitcoin transaction patterns and clustering
- Forensic examination of the blockchain to trace the ransom payment
- Exploitation of operational security mistakes by the perpetrators

#### A.4.3 Legal Challenges

The case highlighted:

- Jurisdictional issues with suspected Russian-based attackers
- Questions regarding the legality of recovering cryptocurrency by exploiting private key vulnerabilities
- Evidentiary standards for identifying the DarkSide ransomware group

#### A.4.4 Outcome

The FBI was able to recover approximately 63.7 Bitcoin (around \$2.3 million) of the ransom payment. While the primary perpetrators were not apprehended, the case demonstrated the potential for recovering cryptocurrency ransoms and highlighted both the capabilities and limitations of blockchain forensics in ransomware investigations.

# A.5 BitMEX Trading Platform Enforcement Action

#### A.5.1 Case Overview

In October 2020, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) and the Department of Justice brought charges against the owners and operators of the BitMEX crypto violate the Bank Secrecy Act.

#### A.5.2 Forensic Techniques

The investigation employed:

- Analysis of user registration and KYC evasion patterns
- Examination of IP address data showing U.S.-based trading activity
- Blockchain analysis to identify suspicious transaction patterns
- Tracing of proceeds through the platform's fee structure

#### A.5.3 Legal Challenges

Key challenges included:

- Jurisdictional questions regarding offshore exchange operations
- Application of traditional banking regulations to cryptocurrency derivatives
- Determination of appropriate penalties for non-compliant operations

#### A.5.4 Outcome

BitMEX agreed to pay a \$100 million civil monetary penalty to resolve the charges. The case established important precedents regarding regulatory compliance for cryptocurrency trading platforms, even those operating primarily outside the United States.

# **B** Glossary of Technical Terms

Address A string of alphanumeric characters representing a possible destination for a cryptocurrency payment, derived from the public key.

- **Bitcoin** The first and most widely known cryptocurrency, introduced in 2009 by Satoshi Nakamoto.
- **Block Explorer** A tool that provides a visual interface to explore blocks, addresses, and transactions on a blockchain.
- **Blockchain** A distributed digital ledger that records transactions across many computers in a way that ensures any involved record cannot be altered retroactively.
- Chain Analysis The process of examining blockchain data to identify patterns, relationships, and activities.
- **Clustering** The process of grouping multiple cryptocurrency addresses that are likely controlled by the same entity.
- **CoinJoin** A method for combining multiple Bitcoin payments from multiple spenders into a single transaction to increase privacy.
- **Cold Storage** Keeping cryptocurrency offline and away from any internet connection to protect against hacking or theft.
- **Cryptocurrency** A digital or virtual currency that uses cryptography for security and operates on a blockchain.
- **Decentralized Finance (DeFi)** Financial services built on blockchain technology that operate without centralized intermediaries like banks.
- **Deterministic Wallet** A wallet that generates addresses using a seed, allowing all addresses to be recovered using the seed phrase.
- **Digital Forensics** The recovery and investigation of material found in digital devices in relation to criminal activity.

- **FATF Travel Rule** A Financial Action Task Force requirement that virtual asset service providers exchange customer information during transactions.
- **Forensic Taint Analysis** The process of tracking the flow of cryptocurrencies that have been identified as associated with illicit activities.
- **Hard Fork** A radical change to a network's protocol that makes previously invalid blocks/transactions valid, requiring all nodes to upgrade.
- Hash Function A mathematical function that converts an input of arbitrary length into an encrypted output of fixed length.
- **Heuristic** A practical method, not guaranteed to be optimal, for identifying patterns or solving problems in blockchain analysis.
- Know Your Customer (KYC) Regulations requiring businesses to verify the identity of their clients.
- **Mixing Service** A service that pools together cryptocurrency from multiple users and then redistributes them to obscure their origin.
- Multi-signature Wallet A wallet that requires multiple private keys to authorize a transaction.
- **Node** A computer that connects to a blockchain network and maintains a copy of the blockchain.
- **Private Key** A secure digital code that allows direct access to cryptocurrency holdings and is used to sign transactions.
- **Proof of Work** A consensus mechanism requiring computational effort to prevent network abuse.
- **Public Key** A cryptographic code that allows a user to receive cryptocurrency transactions.

- **Ring Signature** A type of digital signature that can be performed by any member of a group of users, making it impossible to determine which member signed a transaction.
- Smart Contract Self-executing contracts with the terms directly written into code.
- **Stealth Address** A privacy-enhancing technique that generates one-time addresses for each transaction.
- **Transaction Graph** A representation of cryptocurrency transactions as a network of connections between addresses.
- **Wallet** Software that stores private and public keys and interacts with blockchains to enable users to send and receive cryptocurrency.
- **Zero-knowledge Proof** A method by which one party can prove to another party that they know a value, without conveying any information apart from the fact that they know the value.

# References

- S. Nakamoto, "Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System," 2008. [Online]. Available: https://bitcoin.org/bitcoin.pdf
- [2] A. M. Antonopoulos, Mastering Bitcoin: Programming the Open Blockchain, 2nd ed. O'Reilly Media, 2017.
- [3] A. Narayanan, J. Bonneau, E. Felten, A. Miller, and S. Goldfeder, Bitcoin and Cryptocurrency Technologies: A Comprehensive Introduction. Princeton University Press, 2016.
- [4] F. Reid and M. Harrigan, "An Analysis of Anonymity in the Bitcoin System," in Security and Privacy in Social Networks, Y. Altshuler, Y. Elovici, A. B. Cremers, N. Aharony, and A. Pentland, Eds. New York, NY: Springer, 2013, pp. 197–223.
- [5] S. Meiklejohn et al., "A Fistful of Bitcoins: Characterizing Payments Among Men with No Names," in *Proceedings of the 2013 Internet Measurement Conference*, 2013, pp. 127–140.
- [6] E. Androulaki, G. O. Karame, M. Roeschlin, T. Scherer, and S. Capkun, "Evaluating User Privacy in Bitcoin," in *Financial Cryptography and Data Security*, 2013, pp. 34–51.
- [7] S. Goldfeder, H. Kalodner, D. Reisman, and A. Narayanan, "When the cookie meets the blockchain: Privacy risks of web payments via cryptocurrencies," *Proceedings on Privacy Enhancing Technologies*, vol. 2018, no. 4, pp. 179–199, 2018.
- [8] M. Moser, R. Bohme, and D. Breuker, "An inquiry into money laundering tools in the Bitcoin ecosystem," in 2013 APWG eCrime Researchers Summit, 2013, pp. 1–14.
- [9] R. Anderson, I. Shumailov, and M. Ahmed, "Making Bitcoin Legal," in Security Protocols XXVI, V. Matyáš, P. Švenda, F. Stajano, B. Christianson, and J. Anderson, Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019, pp. 243–253.

- [10] D. Ron and A. Shamir, "Quantitative Analysis of the Full Bitcoin Transaction Graph," in *Financial Cryptography and Data Security*, A.-R. Sadeghi, Ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 6–24.
- [11] A. Biryukov, D. Khovratovich, and I. Pustogarov, "Deanonymisation of clients in Bitcoin P2P network," in *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM SIGSAC Conference on Computer* and Communications Security, 2014, pp. 15–29.
- [12] A. Murray, "Internet Jurisdiction and the Blockchain: Achieving Transnational Consensus," in *The Governance of Blockchain Financial Networks*, Oxford University Press, 2018.
- [13] G. Quaranta, "The Weight of Bitcoin under the Law. The Blockchain Legal Framework," *The Journal of Blockchain Law*, vol. 1, no. 1, 2019.
- [14] R. Houben and A. Snyers, "Cryptocurrencies and blockchain: Legal context and implications for financial crime, money laundering and tax evasion," European Parliament, Policy Department for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 2018.
- [15] J. Brito and A. Castillo, "Bitcoin: A Primer for Policymakers," Mercatus Center, George Mason University, 2017.
- [16] M. Moser and R. Böhme, "Anonymous Alone? Measuring Bitcoin's Second-Generation Anonymization Techniques," in *IEEE European Symposium on Security and Privacy* Workshops, 2018, pp. 32–41.
- [17] Chainalysis, "The 2022 Crypto Crime Report," Feb. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://go.chainalysis.com/2022-Crypto-Crime-Report.html
- [18] Europol, "Internet Organised Crime Threat Assessment (IOCTA) 2023," 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.europol.europa.eu/publications-events/main-reports/internetorganised-crime-threat-assessment-iocta-2023

- [19] Financial Action Task Force (FATF), "Updated Guidance for a Risk-Based Approach to Virtual Assets and Virtual Asset Service Providers," FATF, Paris, 2022.
- [20] CoinMarketCap, "Global Cryptocurrency Market Cap Charts," 2024. [Online]. Available: https://coinmarketcap.com/charts/
- [21] M. Paquet-Clouston, M. Romiti, B. Haslhofer, and T. Charvat, "Spams meet Cryptocurrencies: Sextortion in the Bitcoin Ecosystem," in *Proceedings of the 1st ACM Conference on Advances in Financial Technologies*, 2019, pp. 76–88.
- [22] S. Kethineni and Y. Cao, "The Rise in Popularity of Cryptocurrency and Associated Criminal Activity," *International Criminal Justice Review*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 325-344, 2019.
- [23] Y. Fanusie and T. Robinson, "Bitcoin Laundering: An Analysis of Illicit Flows into Digital Currency Services," Center on Sanctions Illicit Finance, 2018.
- [24] M. Bartoletti, S. Carta, T. Cimoli, and R. Saia, "Dissecting Ponzi schemes on Ethereum: identification, analysis, and impact," *Future Generation Computer Systems*, vol. 102, pp. 259–277, 2020.
- [25] S. Scharnowski, "Understanding DeFi Through the Lens of a Production Function," SSRN Electronic Journal, 2023.